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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”),
| am pleased to present the 2020 full year results to the
shareholders of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
and, including subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we").

The coronavirus pandemic swept the world in 2020, with pandemic
prevention measures restricting economic and consumption
activities. A downtrodden global economy saw numerous
redundancies and corporate closures. Although many countries
adopted interest rate cuts and quantitative easing policies to
provide support, economic recoveries are still in fits and starts as
the pandemic refuses to budge.

China’s pandemic outbreak brought industrial production to a
virtual halt in the first quarter of 2020, but the situation was
rapidly brought under control, and by the end of the first quarter,
production had resumed to a great extent across the nation and
the economy started recover. That said, the rest of the world
fared worse in this pandemic, and Sino-US trade relations stayed
tense, resulting in slower growth for the Chinese economy in 2020
compared to previous years.

The Group's corrugated packaging business relies mainly on
Chinese domestic sales. The first half of 2020 saw a collapse in
domestic demand as well as a lack of raw materials due to Chinese
government restrictions on imports of waste paper. As a result, the
Group's revenue fell substantially in the first half of 2020 compared
to the first half of 2019. In the second half of 2020, the Chinese
economy gradually returned to normal, and market demand for
corrugated packaging rose sharply, resulting in revenue growth for
the Group in the period.

As the Group's revenue are mainly in Renminbi, but purchases of
raw materials are in USD, fluctuations in the Renminbi exchange
rate have an impact on the Group's profitability. The Renminbi
exchange rate steadily declined in the first half of 2020 but started
to rebound in the third quarter and appreciated substantially in the
fourth quarter. Such fluctuations in exchange rates had a positive
impact on the Group's performance.

Putting all these together, the Group recorded a loss in the first half
of 2020 but rebounded to a profit in the second half of 2020, ending
the full year of 2020 at a slight profit. The Group has consistently
focused on containerboard and corrugated packaging products with
short production cycles and maintains a roster of quality clients.
Thus, the Group continues with its track record of next to no bad
debts. At the end of 2020, the Group's balance sheet was at a net
cash position (with total bank balances and cash exceeding total
bank borrowings), maintaining our consistently robust financial
position.
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Since the beginning of 2021, the Chinese government has
prohibited imports of waste paper. To acquire enough raw materials
for production, the Group located a site at a convenient location in
the Philippines at the end of 2019 and leased facilities in early 2020
to install a small production line for converting waste paper into
pulp, in order to ship the converted pulp to the Mainland of China
as feedstock of containerboard. Trial production was completed in
the second quarter of 2020 and the production line officially started
production in the second half of 2020.

In addition, the Group will also lease a new facility to install a new
larger pulp line, which is due to start trial operations at the end of
2021. This shift in a small part of our overall production process
overseas satisfies both Chinese government import requirements
as well as the business needs of our Group's upstream business,
putting the Group's production volume and overall business back
on track.

Looking ahead to 2021, we believe global trade and the global
economy will be significantly impacted by the pandemic, and
the Chinese economy will remain under pressure from the Sino-
US trade war. That said, we firmly believe that the Chinese
government will launch new policies and measures to counter its
impact, and we remain optimistic that effective policies will allow
the Chinese economy to grow at a stable pace and lift demand for
corrugated packaging.

The Group will continue to improve our production process and
reduce wastage, and strictly control costs to alleviate the impact
of rising operating costs and provide more high-quality corrugated
packaging products to our customers. We remain committed to
extending our competitive advantage as a vertically integrated
producer and striving for sustainable long-term growth in earnings.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our
management team and staff, express my gratitude for their
solidarity in facing adversities and various challenges, and thank our
customers, suppliers, bankers and investors for their support over
the years. We will continue to strive to deliver better returns to our
shareholders.

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
30th March, 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The coronavirus pandemic slashed demand in the domestic market
in the People's Republic of China (the “"PRC") for corrugated
packaging in the first half of 2020, and the Group’s average selling
price and sales volume plunged, with revenue falling 45.7%
compared to the first half of 2019. In the second half of 2020, the
Group's average selling price and sales volume both rebounded
on the back of the Chinese economy stabilizing, and we were able
to reasonably transfer rising raw materials costs to customers.
As a result, revenue in the second half of 2020 rose by 120.7%
compared to the first half of 2020 and rose by 19.9% compared to
the second half of 2019.

The Group’'s upstream containerboard business produces
corrugating medium and linerboard, mainly to supply the Group’s
downstream corrugated packaging business manufacturing
corrugated paperboards and boxes. Depending on market
conditions, we may also directly sell our containerboard directly to
customers. In 2020, the upstream and downstream businesses
accounted for 42.5% and 57.5% of revenue. Upstream revenue
fell during the year by 22.9% compared to 2019, and equipment
utilization was at 50%; downstream revenue fell by 3.6% compared
to 2019, with equipment utilization at 48%.

The Group's main raw materials, wastepaper and containerboard
are sourced both in the domestic and overseas markets.
Procurement costs fell in the first half of 2020 but rebounded in the
second half, and, combined with the appreciation of the Renminbi,
resulted in overall raw materials costs coming in at a slightly lower
level in 2020 compared to 2019. Other than an increase in finance
costs due to higher borrowing levels, selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses both fell as a result of lower
revenue, which resulted in the Group recording a slight profit for
the full year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating results

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue of HK$153.7 million
in 2020, representing a fall of 12.9% from HK$1,194.1 million
in 2019 to HK$1,040.4 million in 2020. The drop in revenue was
mainly attributed to the decline in sales volume resulting from the
tremendous decrease in demand in China in the first half of 2020.

In addition to the decline in sales volume, the average costs of
main raw materials, waste paper and containerboard fell, leading to
a decrease in cost of sales by 15.4%. Cost of sales dropped from
HK$1,078.8 million in 2019 to HK$912.5 million in 2020.

Gross profit increased from HK$115.3 million in 2019 to HK$127.9
million in 2020, representing an increase of 10.9%. Gross profit
margin rose from 9.7% to 12.3%.

Other income increased from HK$20.6 million in 2019 to HK$23.1
million in 2020. Such increase was mainly contributed from valued
added tax refund from the Chinese government.

Other gains and losses rose from net loss of HK$2.3 million in 2019
to net gain of HK$4.1 million in 2020, primarily due to exchange
gains resulting from appreciation of Renminbi.

Selling and distribution costs shrank 16.6% from HK$45.7 million in
2019 to HK$38.1 million in 2020. The decrease was in line with the
decrease in revenue.

Administrative expenses fell 4.3% from HK$83.7 million in 2019 to
HK$80.1 million in 2020. It was mainly arisen from the fall in share-
based payment.

Other expenses increased from HK$18.2 million in 2019 to HK$21.4
million in 2020. It was mainly due to the increase in china duty and
charges and the consultancy fee paid to a bank in China.

An increase in finance costs by HK$2.6 million, from HK$6.2 million
in 2019 to HK$8.8 million in 2020, was owing to higher borrowing
level in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Operating results (Continued)

In 2020, HK$5.1 million was charged to income tax expense, being
the sum of Hong Kong Profits Tax charge of HK$1.2 million, PRC
Enterprise Income Tax charge of HK$0.6 million and deferred tax
charge of HK$3.3 million. In 2019, income tax credit of HK$12.8
million was recorded which comprised Hong Kong Profits Tax
charge of HK$2.0 million, PRC Enterprise Income Tax of HK$0.2
million, PRC withholding tax of HK$1.2 million and deferred tax
credit of HK$16.2 million.

Profit for the year of HK$1.4 million was recorded in 2020
while loss for the year of HK$7.9 million was recorded in 2019,
representing an increase of profit by HK$9.3 million. Profit margin
rose from -0.7% to 0.1%.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group's bank balances and cash
were HK$291.5 million (31st December, 2019: HK$292.3 million).
Over 80% was held in Renminbi.

All bank borrowings were unsecured, rising from HK$216.9 million
at 31st December, 2019 to HK$282.6 million at 31st December,
2020. As at 31st December, 2020, the current unsecured bank
borrowings declined HK$44.8 million while non-current unsecured
bank borrowings rose HK$110.5 million. The group recorded a net
cash level (bank balances and cash less total bank borrowings) of
HK$8.9 million (31st December, 2019: HK$75.4 million). Gearing
ratio (total bank borrowings to total equity) and net gearing ratio (total
bank borrowings less bank balances and cash to total equity) were
17.4% and -0.5% respectively (31st December, 2019: 14.2% and
-4.9% respectively).

As at 31st December, 2020, net current assets and current ratio of
the Group were HK$265.8 million (31st December, 2019: HK$186.6
million) and 1.7 (31st December, 2019: 1.5) respectively.

In 2020, the Group spent HK$36.6 million on capital expenditures
for property, plant and equipment in China and spent HK$53.4
million for paying deposit for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment for the Philippines project.

Debtors, creditors and inventory turnover were 59 days (2019:
49 days), 32 days (2019: 33 days) and 53 days (2019: 84 days)
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

We anticipate a global economic recovery in 2021 on the back
of mass vaccinations, which should drive economic growth in
China and market demand for corrugated packaging. To resolve
the shortfall in raw materials, the Group is actively preparing the
site leasing and installation of new production facilities in the
Philippines, to reduce production costs and increase sales volume.
We will continue to strive for pricing power and focus on our key
strategies of raising production efficiency, increasing sales volume,
reducing wastage of raw materials and energy use, furthering our
goal of improving the Group's earnings.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group employed a total workforce
of around 1,050 full time staff (2019: 1,000). Competitive
remuneration packages were offered to employees. The Group
may also grant share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible
employees based on the performance of the Group and individuals.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 59, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development and overall
corporate planning of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 36 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui did
not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 54, is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the Group
since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic planning
and day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 34
years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of the
Board and executive Director of the Company). Mr. Hui did not
hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last 3 years.

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, aged 50, is an executive Director, the chief
financial officer, the company secretary and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Hui is responsible for the financial management
of the Group. Ms. Hui is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Hui
worked in an international accounting firm prior to joining the Group
in May 1997.

Ms. Hui obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in 1992. Ms.
Hui does not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company. Ms. Hui did
not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last 3 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 59, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chee is a practising Certified Public Accountant
in Hong Kong and a senior partner of Chee Chan & Co., a firm
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chee had worked in two
international accounting firms in Canada and Hong Kong. Mr. Chee
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Chee obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce (Accounting)
with Honours from Birmingham University in 1984. Mr. Chee
does not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company.

Mr. Chee used to be an independent non-executive director of
Evershine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chee did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last 3 years.

Mr. Wong Chu Leung, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong has over 36 years of experience in enterprise management
and manufacturing operation management. Mr. Wong is a
shareholder and a director of a metal ware manufacturing company
with manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Chau Suk Ming, aged 63, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chau is a retired businessman with more than 15 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry. Mr. Chau was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company with
manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Chau does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Chau did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 #i#s 11

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBE

BExg(#F)
BYFHITES

MELESE 595 AARARI BN IENITE S REZX
ZES  FHEZEQURREEREEGZERE - ML RS
BRE G R E S TR SR E 2 ER
ABA MEELCERMNEXREEMMEBER AT
ST TR B SFTEIAE K INE Kinstitute of Chartered

= 5

Accountants of Ontario® & °

MEER - NN\NFEEFEAPDABHER T REEN
(Efegst)  BRERARBZEMNESR  TERRES
REEE B -

ME R EEREEIERER AR 2B IFNTES
FZRRNBEBBARZABR AR LT - MWAENBE=
FIENEESEI LT RRHEETEMERR -

BEREAE 735 RARRIZENIFRITERALE
ZZBg FHZESLREZBEKE - ERERDEE
EERHEXGERETHER =T FRR - BEES—
BRTEREEERE 2 2BREMARZRRRES -

BRLBRARRZENES T2RRRSREREHE
ERR - EERENBE=FALBENEFBIEI LI AR
B E A SRR

BMEBAKE - 6358 /ARRZEILIFRITERIALE
ZZEg VFMZESRREZBEKE - AXER—%
BREA  REFBEREEB T RFER - BALEEBEET
—HERPEREEEREZ S ER AR ZRENES -

BERERARRZENES  T2RRRSREREHE
EFIRR - AEERNBE=FLBENEFBIEIN LN AR
B A SRR

L b‘il’)



S 4

12  HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED & E£EZRERA

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 58, is the general manager of the Group.
Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of procurement, logistics
and human resources of the Group. Mr. Tsui has over 25 years of
experience in corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Prior to joining the Group in February 2008, Mr. Tsui was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company.

Mr. Tsui is a brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of the
Board and executive Director of the Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai
(executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company).

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 49, is the senior accounting and
administrative manager of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible
for overseeing accounting operations of the Group. Ms. Wong
obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration majoring
in accounting from the University of Houston — Downtown in
the United States in 1994. Ms. Wong worked in an international
accounting firm prior to joining the Group in May 2002.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st December,
2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders and enhance
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate
government practices.

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework and
has established a set of policies and procedures based on the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such policies
and procedures provide the infrastructure for enhancing the Board's
ability to implement governance and exercise proper oversight on
business conduct and affairs of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2020, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for code provisions
A.2.1,B.1.2 and C.3.3.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code and the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model
Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors

as follows:

Executive Directors

Hui Sum Ping Chairman
Hui Sum Tai Chief Executive Officer
Hui Yuen Li Chief Financial Officer,

Company Secretary and Member
of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chee Man Sang, Eric Chairman of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Wong Chu Leung Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Chau Suk Ming Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed under
“Management Profile” on pages 10 to 12.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board and business development.
The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s strategic
planning and daily management and operations generally.

The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and distinctive
and hence, written terms thereof are not necessary. This deviates
from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates
that the division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of around two years, subject to
renewal after the expiry of the current term.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. The Company's Articles of Association
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting
after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development (“CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged
and reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant external training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Company
organized two in-house briefings on updates on Listing Rules
and related matters for all Directors. In addition, relevant reading
materials including compliance manual, legal and regulatory update
and seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

The records of CPD relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended 31st December, 2020 are summarized as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange's website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is
set out under “Corporate Information” on page 2.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Wong Chu Leung
and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held three meetings to review, in respect
of the year ended 31st December, 2020, the interim and annual
financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function, appointment of external auditor and engagement of
non-audit services and relevant scope of works.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee
has met with the Company’s auditor once to discuss matters
arising from the audit of the Company’s annual results and other
matters the auditor may wish to raise during the year ended 31st
December, 2020. This deviates from the code provision C.3.3 of
the CG Code which stipulates that the audit committee must meet,
at least twice a year, with company’s auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Executive Director, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric,
Mr. Wong Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming, Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to review
the Directors’ remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
and the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is attended
by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
This deviates from the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code
which stipulates that the remuneration committee should make
recommendations to the board on company's policy and structure
for all the directors’ and senior management remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31st December, 2020 are
set out below:
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Number of

senior management

Remuneration band FEN4E I BREEERE
HK$1,000,000-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000/ 752 1,500,000 77T 2

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Executive Director, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric,
Mr. Wong Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming, Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would consider a number of aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company's Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage. The particulars of the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company are set out as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee will review annually the
structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

2. In reviewing and assessing the Board diversity, a number
of aspects and factors will be considered, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience.

3. The Nomination Committee will discuss and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the
Board for adoption.

4. The Nomination Committee will assess regularly the diversity
profile of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity
objectives, if any.

5. The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy in
order to (i) set out the criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

° Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to
the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Independency.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a director.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business, succession plan, etc.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee will evaluate the
candidates based on the prescribed criteria, rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable) and
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

4.

For re-election of retiring director, the Nomination Committee
will review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of participation
and performance on the Board, determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the prescribed criteria
and make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review regularly the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
for selection and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and business needs.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, training and CPD of the Directors and the senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, the Board
Committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company
held during the year ended 31st December, 2020 is set out in the
table below:

ExvHEERLE

BEENHE_ZSSF T A"+ BLEFERIZE
£2EEH  EFRECRRNARRBRRAEG 2 HELE
E1)iSHNE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE gREA

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEpE Exg BEREEE B P REZEE RREFAE
Hui Sum Ping FARF 4/4 N/A T A N/A T N/A A I
Hui Sum Tai FRER 4/4 N/A A N/A T N/A T A
Hui Yuen Li FHATF] 4/4 N/A 7~ F n n ”n
Chee Man Sang, Eric MERAE 4/4 3/3 11 11 11
Wong Chu Leung AW 4/4 3/3 11 11 1”1
Chau Suk Ming JEER 4/4 3/3 11 11 1”1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of Executive Directors during the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

Independent Non-executive Directors have attended the annual
general meeting to gain and develop a balanced understanding of
the view of shareholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions
including project management, sales and leasing, financial
reporting, human resources and information technology.

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the
Group and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress, and has
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and
the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31st December, 2020.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31st December, 2020, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review
also covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company's Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 66 to 71.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration payable/paid to the external auditor
of the Group, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and its member
firms, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31st December, 2020 is set out below:

ESTEMBERRZER

EPERHENALAARE S-S+ A=At
FEMBRRZEIE -

BV TABEMEATRER RS KA AR RIE
LR IEREARRRZ EHRIER

RARBYZEMEBERRUBHRZETZBRBERN
F66271 A B ZHERE IR -

% 26T 2

RBE T -_THE+-_F=+—RHIFEZERRENIE

ERRBAAEEINEZBEN S BAER AT R
HRX B RAIZEN/BRNHEMITHFIAT -

Fees Payable/Paid

Service Category BRI R BN BNER
HK$

I

Audit Services BIZAR 1,815,000
Non-audit Services FEEIZ RS 357,000
2,172,000

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under Article 58 of the Company's Articles of Association, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Company’s Articles of Association and the
Cayman Islands Companies Law. Shareholders who wish to put
forward proposals at general meeting may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the
Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor

Superluck Industrial Centre (Phase 2)

No. 57 Sha Tsui Road and

Nos. 30-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2414 5508

Email: hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, there was no
significant change in the Company's constitutional documents and
these documents are available on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to code provision
E.1.5 of the CG Code which aims at setting out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to
the shareholders of the Company as follows:

o In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

o The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

. The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company and all applicable laws
and regulations and the factors set out below.

o The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND HERRBERREEBR(E)
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

Dividend Policy (Continued) REBEK(E)

. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and e RFARE) RAEE BRI K& i g R E
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, = BEeAAEMBFESHRERR HERT
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for TR -

a financial year or period:

o interim dividend:; o RHARRE

o final dividend; o REARRE.

o  special dividend; and o FRRE: R

o  any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem o [AMEFERR/EGENLFDE -

appropriate.

. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to e R FERAAR BB AR AL -
shareholders’ approval.

. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of e ARRANESERAAEMNERAE IR KK’
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers B PERSIABRR B EMER -
appropriate.

. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to o R R BEA AL B RSN R EIR B AN A RIS
the Company in accordance with the Company's Articles of RARFEBARNE -
Association.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SCOPE

The reporting period for this Environmental, Social and
Governance report of the Group is from 1st January, 2020
to 31st December, 2020. It includes the operations of the
Hong Kong Office (“Hong Kong Office"”) and the factory and
office of Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited
(the "Qingyuan Factory”) of the Group. The business of
the Qingyuan Factory includes production and selling of
containerboard (corrugating medium and linerboard) and
corrugated packaging products (corrugated paper boards and
carton boxes). This report is prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
contained in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting and/or other general
meetings (if any) have provided an effective platform for
the Board of Directors and shareholders to exchange
insights. Apart from general meetings, in order to maintain
a close relationship with the stakeholders, such as clients
and suppliers, the Company would seek the opinions and
understand the needs of the stakeholders through visits,
telephone conferences, e-mails, follow-ups from customer
service, questionnaires and other ways on a regular basis.
The Group's overall performance would also be reported to
the investors through this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

3.1 Environment

The Group endeavors to minimize energy consumption
through its operation, reduce greenhouse gas
emissions and waste emission in order to minimize its
impact on the environment. The Group strengthens
its management in energy conservation and emission
reduction and infiltrated such practices into its various
operations.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BRI HEREARRR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued) 31 BIE(E)

3.1.1 #KY

3.1.1 Emissions

Non-Hazardous Waste Minimization

Minimizing waste generation from its source and,
reusing and recycling waste before disposal are
the principles addressed by the Group’s waste
management policy.

As for waste control, in order to minimize
environmental impact, the Group devotes itself
to reducing waste. The Qingyuan factory has
established a set of fixed control procedures for
wastes, and has required each department to
assort wastes for collection and store any wastes
generated. The recycled wastes including scrap
metal, scrap pallets, scrap powder bag and waste
plastic barrel are collected and reprocessed by
qualified licensed collectors. In addition, the
factory has collected coal ash from boilers,
providing it to cement and brick factories as raw
material to reduce non-hazardous wastes.

Hazardous Waste Minimization

In dealing with hazardous wastes, monitoring of
the use of chemicals is of utmost importance to
the Group. The Qingyuan factory has established
a set of monitoring procedures for the use of
hazardous chemicals. The purchase of hazardous
chemicals should be based on the actual needs
of production orders. They should be delivered
in batches to prevent over-buying, which will
lead to backlogs of inventory. The number of
purchases of hazardous chemicals in 2020 was at
approximately the same level as in 2019.

The Group has strictly implemented the
“Cleaner Production Promotion Law” of the
People’'s Republic of China and the relevant
provisions which increase the efficiency of the
utilization rate of resources, reduce and avoid
the generation of pollutants and protect and
improve the environment. In the procurement
of raw materials, non-toxic, harmless and
environmentally friendly materials should be
selected to minimize the generation of hazardous
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BIR - HBEREARRRE)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued) 3.1 REE)
3.1.1 Emissions (Continued) 3.1.1 #Y (&)
The Group has demonstrated the following FBE AU D BERERBUR RS
results in the reporting period through the it - EEERERE HER N IIAER

implementation of the aforementioned policies
and measures for waste reduction:

Figure | &—

Total Annual Emissions (tonnes)

FEAGENE ()

2019
Types of Wastes BEEYyEE —=— e
Hazardous Waste BEREEY 3 3
Non-hazardous Waste mEEZEY 242 367

Waste Intensity per Employee
(tonnes/person)
FHENEEREL
BEYEE (B, A)

2019
Type of Wastes BENESR —T-hF
Hazardous Waste BEEEY 0.01 0.01
Non-hazardous Waste mEEZEY 0.43 0.63
Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions LA TR
The main source of gas emissions for the Group SEEZZENRBHRIREAIRERED
comes from the boilers which mainly consist WER  FEOSEE  —S(HEAR
of soot, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide. In aibn - B - SEERA T AR X
the meantime, the Group utilized a variety of THIREEBE AR - R ERIEBE R E R
technologies to control the gas emissions: BB ROBGE TS DS - ASEER
exhaust gas from boiler combustion is passed to B BAERKRF a0 KA
the Wet Flue Gas Spray Tower for magnesium SNCRE T F TR R ALY « AR
desulfurization to minimize the sulfur dioxide in B B B3R K ME SR R ) JZ EE -

the flue gas; SNCR denitrification technology is
adopted to minimize nitrogen oxide; and the soot
from flue gas is minimized through bag filters.

L’ b‘tl’)
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BRI HEREARRR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued) 31 BIE(E)

3.1.1 Y (E)

3.1.1 Emissions (Continued)

Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions (Continued)

Through these measures, the Group ensures that
atmospheric emission controls meet the national
emissions requirements.

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases
("GHG")

Reduction of Business Trips

The Group understands that business trips
increase energy consumption and lead to an
increase in GHG emissions. The group uses other
effective means of communication to reduce
GHG emissions that arise from additional traffic,
including using phone and/or video conferencing,
and encouraging employees to use public
transport.

During the reporting period, the number of
business trips was greatly decreased due to the
pandemic. Phone and video conferencing were
considerably used.

Procurement from Local Suppliers

Under the same business conditions (e.g. cost,
quality, technology and services, environmental
and other factors), the Group would give priority
to local suppliers to reduce delivery distance and
its resulting carbon emissions.

Control of Indoor Air Quality

Smoking is prohibited in the Qingyuan factory
and the offices to maintain good air quality. The
Hong Kong office has been equipped with air
freshening machine and ventilation system to
improve air quality.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3.

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued)
3.1.1 Emissions (Continued)

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG ") (Continued)

During the reporting period, the Group has
strictly complied with the relevant environmental
protection regulations and no violation of
environmental protection regulations was found.
The sources and emission volumes of GHG
generated during the period were as follows:
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RIR - HERERHRE

BiE - d8RERRRAE

3.1 BE#E)
3.1.1 Y (E)
JB A s R (B = A ) (4E)
RERER - EEEE B NRERE

REER - WEERIRFED] - BIAFT
EEREREBHAREIIHENT

Figure Il B=
Amount
HE
2019
GHG Emissions Sources BEREHEBIRR —E-NEF
Diesel fuel consumption from KA B ERA SmEFE ()
stationary sources (litres) 154,578 197,132
Gasoline consumption from R ERENRR TR EFE ()
mobile sources (litres) 19,422 23,639
Business travel by passenger (km) REER(RE) 3,708 241,206
Coal consumption from stationary R & B e R B OE FE (HE)
sources (tonnes) 100,750 112,444
Diesel oil consumption from KB RENRA S MEFE ()
mobile sources (litres) 3,521 3,955
Electricity consumption by RAEREE(TEE)
facilities (kWh) 54,813 52,796
Total GHG emissions (tonnes carbon BERBIRBE
dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e")) (WE—E{tixE =
(M|t E])) 174,199 174,542
GHG emission intensity FHEMEEFMELERE
per employee REHNEE
(tCO,e/person) (Mg —EfbiREE,/AN) 311 296
3.1.2 Use of Resources 3.1.2 EFEH

The Group's business belongs to green
industry. Thus considerable attention is paid to
environmental protection to ensure reasonable
and efficient use of energy and resources.

<
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BRI HEREBRRR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued) 3.1 BE(#E)
3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued) 3.1.2 EREHE)
Energy Conservation Measure EPHIBE N1 e

Basically, the Group is only equipped with low-
power electrical equipment with less power
consumption to reduce carbon emission. In the
procurement process of electrical appliances,
priority is given to energy-saving products such
as refrigerators and washing machines which had
grade 1 label of energy-saving logos.

Gradually all light bulbs have been replaced by
LED luminaires to reduce energy consumption.
They also reduce the generation of harmful waste
by replacing traditional luminaires with shorter life
cycle. According to the energy saving policies,
lighting devices, air-conditioners and printers are
temporarily switched off during lunch time to
preserve energy.

Furthermore, the air-conditioning system has
been set to operate only during business hours
with temperature maintained at a reasonable level
(e.g. 25 degrees Celsius). Energy consumption
in 2020 was at approximately the same level as
in 2019. Apart from facility control, energy-saving
slogans have been posted at office entrances.

Water Conservation Measure

With regard to the use of water resources,
the Group has carried out regular inspection to
reduce water consumption. At the same time it
formulates monitoring control whereby abnormal
water consumption will be investigated. Water
conservation slogans are also posted to raise
employee awareness of water conservation and
to remind employees and visitors to conserve
water.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.1

Environment (Continued)

3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Water Conservation Measure (Continued)

In the process of manufacturing containerboard,
lots of wastes and useful fibers would be
extracted from waste paper. Parts of the useful
fibers would be retained in water (“White
Water"”). The Group has adopted the reuse of
White Water at the Qingyuan Factory. After
processing through the White Water recycling
system, wastewater reaching the standards
would be returned to the production lines for use
in order to minimize wastewater generation and
water consumption. Moreover, it has also been
equipped with effective wastewater treatment
technique, anaerobic digestion. With this facility
and technology, the Group has greatly reduced
water consumption and hazardous substance
in the wastewater. The thermal power station
has been equipped with cooling system so that
condensed water could be recycled for the boiler
use. Technological upgrade to the facilities has
increased the rate of reusing water and reduced
the volume of wastewater emission.

Office Resource Conservation

The Group actively promotes electronic
documentation to implement the concept of a
paperless office. Computer files are used instead
of hardcopies to reduce the use of paper in
offices. The Group also encourages employees
to adopt other recognized management practices
to avoid excessive use of resources by the Hong
Kong and Qingyuan offices such as (1) re-usable
eating utensils instead of disposable ones, (2)
using single-side printed paper as draft paper, (3)
encouraging double-side printing, (4) collecting
waste office paper for recycling, and (5) collecting
and returning empty ink cartridges to the qualified
license suppliers for recycling. Concurrently,
those scrap paper and confidential documents
must be shredded and stored at the recycling
station, and finally passed to the qualified license
recyclers on a regular basis.

3.
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3.1

RE(HE)

3.1.2 BREH(E)
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BIR - HBEREARRRE)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued) 3.1 REE)
3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued) 3.1.2 EFREHEZ)
During the reporting period, the key resources RRERRE - SEEKEROEELR
consumed in the Group's operations were BELEN T -

summarized as follows:
Figure Il B=

Total Annual Consumption

FEHAEEE
2019

Resources &R —E-NEF

Electricity (kWh) BH(FEE) 54,813 52,796

Water (cubic metre) IK(SZFHK) 1,948,043 2,399,407

Packaging materials (plastic) (tonne) BEYE (R (HE) 17 17

Packaging materials (others) (tonne) BEYEH(E ML) (BE) 532 563

Figure IV Pq

Consumption Intensity
per employee
BNEETFITEERE
2019

Resources &R ZE-NF

Electricity (kWh/person) (Note 1) BH(FREA)HEE) 98.06 89.48

Water (cubic metre/person) KOIFKN) 3,484.87 4,066.79

Packaging materials (plastic) YRR (BEA)

(tonne/person) 0.03 0.03

Packaging materials (others) YR (EA) (BEA)

(tonne/person) 0.95 0.95

Note: Bzt -

1. The data of electricity consumption only refers 1. IWEZENFERENRINEE NH
to the volume of purchases from outsiders. The o REETERERARER(ZE
Group mainly generates electricity from coal (refer =)
to Figure 1)
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. EBE ggREARRKRE
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued) 31 BIE(E)

3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 313 REREAENR

The Group understands the concerns of our
society on environmental issues; thus, it has
implemented the following green manufacturing
and green procurement policies:

Green Procurement Policy

In Qingyuan factory, as the main material for
production is recycled waste paper, it should be
non-toxic and non-hazardous. The Group requires
suppliers to provide a Restriction of Hazardous
Substances (ROHS) test report annually to ensure
that their products meet the environmental
protection requirement.

Green Manufacturing Policy

The Group is committed to reducing its impact
on the environment and natural resources. The
Qingyuan factory has been accredited with
ISO 14001 certification for its environmental
management system, and continuously improves
its management of the environment. Various
exhausts, wastewater, solid wastes and noises
from the production sites have been strictly
controlled by government laws and regulations.

In addition, Qingyuan factory has set up a safety
and environmental incident emergency rescue
team for safety and environmental incident
issue, and has conducted different emergency
drills. It has also established contingency plans
with corresponding emergency preparations and
responses dealing with emergency to cope with
various urgent environmental safety incidents.
Furthermore, in delivering or storing hazardous
solid wastes, it has strictly complied with the
requirements of the “Standard for Pollution
Control on Hazardous Waste Storage"” published
by the government and relevant administrative
measures on hazardous waste transfer to prevent
pollution.
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Apart from complying with the local employment
regulations, the Group has formulated relevant
employment policies to ensure employees are
treated in a fair and reasonable manner.

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group ensures that the recruitment process is
in compliance with the legislation and free from
discrimination. All candidates have been treated
equally. During recruitment, it has been stipulated
to prohibit discrimination against factors such
as race, ethnicity, social class, nation, religion,
disability, gender, sexual orientation, marital
status, age, membership in trade union or political

party.

L‘ﬁftd .- .

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE HEREARRBR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued) 3.1 REE)
3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 3.1.3 BREREALR (&)

(Continued)
Green manufacturing Policy (Continued) AR ERGERE ()
Concurrently, the Group is also equipped with A - EENREZFIHEKEGER
specialized facilities for wastewater treatment. e+ NERSL T ERRERYS RERIE A A
And it has also established clear pollutant EEIREE - BT BRI S 4
treatments and operating instructions which REFHHRIEE o
monitor the facilities on real-time basis and
record the results in detail.
The Group would carry out regular inspections EESTER AR E RS L SR T T
on the key pollution control facilities to ensure FEHREDA - RBEREHETET - B
its normal operation. According to the provisions B(PE ARKEMBIRRREE) £
of the Law of Environmental Protection of HERMAERERET T RBEZET
the People’s Republic of China, the Group iy - WEARBI TR HERURE o BERa
makes environmental impact assessment on RIRER B SRR EEEHRTE -
construction projects in the Qingyuan factory
and strictly complies with government emission
regulations. All pollutants after processing have
been discharged in standards.

3.2 Society 32 #H®

3.2.1 Employment 3.2.1 1§
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.1 Employment (Continued)

Recruitment and Promotion (Continued)

Employees would be promoted in accordance
with the Group's rules and regulations, through
fair and impartial performance appraisal, to
ensure equal opportunities for promotion.

Compensation and Welfare

The Group pays compensation and welfare to
employees in strict compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, including the statutory
minimum wages, legal calculation for overtime
compensation, social insurance paid for
employees, statutory holidays, paid annual leave
and paid maternal leave.

In addition, whenever compensation to the
employee at work is required, the Group would
implement in strict compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

Employee Benefits

Employees would be entitled to insurance,
medical benefits, share options as well as
discretionary bonus. The Group offers holiday
benefits to employees.

During the reporting period, the Group did not
make any legal violation or discrimination.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.

BiE - dgRERRRE)

32 HE(#E)

3.2.1 Employment (Continued) 3.2.1 EFEE)
As of 31st December, 2020, the total number RZEZEF+ZA=1+—H EE#
and distribution of employees were summarized H R MmERBaT
as below:
Figure V BE
Number of Employees
EE®E

2019
Gender 3Bl —E-NEF
Male B 450 482
Female gegc 109 108
Employment Type EfEER
Full Time i 559 590
Part Time W 0 0
Age group FHAa Bl
18-24 18%24 27 41
25-34 25234 174 188
35-44 36%44 165 176
45-54 45%54 153 150
55-64 55264 36 33
>65 >65 4 2
Total et 559 590
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.1 Employment (Continued)
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32 HE(#E)

3.2.1 EFEE)

Figure VI B <
Average Monthly Employee
Turnover Rate (%)
AHEERKE(%)
Average
F59E

2019
Gender Bl —E-NF
Male B 2.30 4.29
Female gegc 1.83 4.17

Average
Fi59E

2019
Age group Fi#a 5l —E-NF
18-24 18524 7.72 10.98
25-34 25%34 2.83 5.98
36-44 36%44 2.32 3.36
45-54 45%54 0.93 2.1
b5-64 55264 0.23 1.01
>65 >65 0 0
Overall Average BEEYI9E 2.21 4.27

3.2.2 Health and Safety

The Group has implemented an occupational
health and safety management system which
takes different measures to minimize the
occurrence of occupational illness and industrial
injury.

Occupational Health and Safety Policy

The Group has formulated a set of safety
production management, including first-aid and
self-help knowledge after the occurrence of an
accident. In the Qingyuan factory, it has set up a
safety team and provided three levels of safety
training on regular basis namely Factory Level,
Departmental Level and Group Level which
are led by the departmental heads and safety
officers.

<«
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE HEREARRBR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 32 #g(#E)
3.2.2 Health and Safety (Continued) 322 @EHLE(E)

Occupational Health and Safety Policy (Continued) BEEFRTDIRE ()
The Qingyuan Factory is equipped with a fire ERZa2ZR  BRRERT —WER
engine for safety purpose. Apart from this, the B oo Bz i - EEERREAT RS
Group also installs CCTV in various locations such (MEE - MEMHES)LZETHKE
as warehouse, materials storage to reduce the 5 DU AR BN SR A [ B o

risk from any accident.

Workplace Safety Management TIESHE S ER

The Group has assessed safety risks in the SEFE T TSN T 2R - Wl
workplaces and has formulated corresponding Al THEEMIERARA] - LEBEERRE
operating rules to manage the health and safety RMEREREZEEE - BIENTEIA

hazards posed to employees as follows:

1. Operating procedures are set up for all 1. BHRAEMIERERE  0E
level positions, for example, regulations REMLT R IEEEEATE LR
of operations management for safe work EREBRFAE - UMREREZR
in confined space and the procedures for 2

operating machinery to protect the safety
of employees;

EE TR E BT RN

2. Safety officers would regularly inspect fire 2. *
R AEREEELER

protection facilities and safety facilities to
ensure they can function properly;

ZE
ZE

3.  Protective equipment is provided to 3. REEREMHMHEAR WOE .
employees such as masks, earplugs, plastic HE -  BFERDE

gloves and anti-smashing shoes;

4. Emergency exits are kept clear to prevent 4. REESRABEGEREMNR -
obstruction.

L‘ R PR



ANNUAL REPORT 2020 #g#%% 45

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HERERHRE

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. EBE ggREARRKRE
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 32 #g(#E)

3.2.2 Health and Safety (Continued) 322 @EHLE(E)

Employee Safety Training

The Group provides suitable training to ensure
effective implementation of operating rules and
safe operation of equipment. Moreover, all new
employees must take training in knowledge
of safety. The Group also arranges fire and
emergency drills in the Qingyuan Factory on a
regular basis to ensure employees are familiar
with procedures when dealing with accidents.

Work-life Balance Management

The Group emphasizes on employee work-life
balance and has regularly organized different
activities for employees after work. There are
recreational facilities in Qingyuan factory like
sports ground, gardens, billiard room, table tennis
room and karaoke room.

During the reporting period, 26 working hours
were lost due to work injuries and no work-
related fatality was identified. We have strictly
abided by the related safety regulations and there
were no cases of prosecution due to violation of
related occupational safety regulations.

L’ b‘tl’)
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3.
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

B HEREBRR(E

3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 #HE(E)

3.2.3 Development and Training 3.2.3 BRERIZI

Career Development Policy

The Group has established comprehensive
training system that covers factory's rules and
regulations, product workmanship, environmental
protection and the relevant safety training.
In addition, the Group emphasizes practical

SEEYTRETHRENE  EmT
2 RINRERBEL 2EIINEAE
PR « esh - RECRREE - WL H
EFEEA NMEEARKREEN
BIHTHEFTHEEHET -

experiences and thus arranges team leaders,
group leaders or experienced employees to guide
new recruits in their work.

During the reporting period, the total number RREHE - 20085)IMEE L LE
of employees attended training and the total BEKE IR ERERMnT
number of training hours provided to employees

were summarized as follows:

Figure VII B+t

Total number of
trained employees

2mENNESAH

2019
Gender L33l —ET-NF
Male B 389 650
Female % 78 91
Employee Category EBEDE
Senior Management BREEE 2 2
Middle Management FEEE 5 5
Supervisor FE 4 3
General Staff —HET 456 731
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE ugRERRRAAE)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 #HE(E)
3.2.3 Development and Training (Continued) 3.2.3 BRRIEI(E)
Career Development Policy (Continued) BEFRBFE(E)
Figure VIII ETAN

Total number of training hours
completed by employees (Hours)

BB THIE I ABR B ()

2019
Gender B —ET-NF
Male B 742 1,657
Female gegc 354 251
Employee Category EBESDE
Senior Management BREEE 67 65
Middle Management PEEE 147 107
Supervisor *E 84 88
General Staff —fET 798 1,548
During the reporting period, the total number R HAR - EE2INEINEB BH
of employees attended training was 467 and RA678 R 2 i8R B TR M I AR RF £
the total number of training hours provided to 51,096\ o S B2 EEEY|
employees was 1,096. The average training hours REEL) 52 35/ \BF o

for each employee were around 2.35 hours.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.4 Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of
child labour and only employs individuals aged
18 or above. The Group also ensures no forced
labour occurs.

During the reporting period, there was no
reported case of child labour or forced labour.

3.2.5 Supply Chain Management

Supplier’s Code of Conduct

The Group has developed various codes of
conduct which are communicated to suppliers
of the Group, to assure product quality.
Prohibition on waste paper being mixed with
hazardous wastes would minimize the impact on
environment.

In addition, the Group has established a set of
code of practices in selecting suppliers. After
evaluation of factors such as product quality,
price, environmental protection and social
responsibility performance, the suppliers with the
highest performance-to-price ratio and the best
overall performance would be selected. Besides,
the Group has also established evaluation system
for evaluation beyond commercial interest. The
system evaluates qualification of new suppliers
and performance of existing key suppliers on
regular basis. Evaluations are carried out in the
form of on-site audits and/or document reviews
on qualification and compliance.

L‘ R PR
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE HEREARRBR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 32 #g(#E)
3.2.5 Supply Chain Management (Continued) 3.2.5 HEHEE ()
As of 31st December, 2020, the geographical RZZEZTF+-A=1+—8 £E#
distribution of the Group's suppliers was as JERHMIE DM
follows:
Figure IX Bh
Number of Suppliers
HEREE

2019
Geographical location IR B —E—hF
PRC i 226 220
Others Hth 33 20
Total ot 259 240

3.2.6 Product Responsibility 3.2.6 EmMEMF

Quality Assurance Policy HEREHE
The Group has stringent criteria in monitoring SEEEEEERIEDARISANTE -
production process. The quality of semi-finished FRmEK MmN ERESTRERS It
products and finished products are examined. N EERIATEAEBRRETEEE
Moreover, the Group ensures workers to operate ¥ URETREMRLTS
carefully during the production process to avoid
defective products being delivered to the market.
Product Safety Policy EmZ TR
For assuring product safety, the finished products BREBEERLZE - KoERETSHY%
must pass the final inspection and testing before JAimAm R SO -

releasing to the market.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. EBE ggREARRKRE
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 32 #g(#E)

3.2.6 Product Responsibility (Continued) 3.2.6 EREMF(E)

Fair Marketing Policy

The Group's salespersons are required to
disseminate information on the recognized
competitive advantage only when promoting the
products. Negative description of competitors is
not allowed so as to avoid misleading customers.

After-sales Service Policy

Customer service officers and salespersons
would make after-sales visits to customers on a
regular basis. The Group would obtain comments
for improvement according to results of
customer’s satisfaction survey and would follow
up after-sales issues immediately. If there are
severe product quality issues, the Group would
recall the defective products from the market.

During the reporting year, the Group received
33 (2019: 66) complaints in relation to product
quality.

Privacy Protection of Consumer’s Information

Personal information of customers would properly
be maintained by the Group. Relevant information
has been stored at the internal specific
department. Moreover, customer information can
only be accessed by the authorized personnel.
No one is allowed to make own copies of or store
privately or get the customer information out of
the offices without permission.

The Group has strictly abided by relevant
regulations, and no violation of product
responsibility or privacy was found during the
reporting period.

L‘ﬁfdc .- .
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BRI HEREARRR(E
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 #H=E(#E)

3.2.7 Anti-corruption 327 RES
Corporate Governance PEEE

The Board of Directors has set up different
committees, such as audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration
committee, striving to maintain high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard shareholders
rights and interests, as well as the Group's value
and accountability.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has supervised the behavior of
operating personnel in order to safeguard
employees’ legal rights and corporate interests.
In addition, the Group welcomes employees
to report any non-compliance and dishonest
behavior. The privacy of relevant employees who
report the issues would be protected.

Financial Auditing

The Group engages Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the independent third-party auditor to audit the
Group's financial accounts. This ensures that the
Group's accounts are clear and accurate, and the
interests of shareholders are protected.

Declaration on Conflict of Interest

The Group stipulates that all employees must
declare the conflict of interests. Directors and
senior management are prohibited to transact any
securities of the Group during sensitive periods.

L’ b‘tl’)
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. B HEREARRRAE)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 #H=E(#E)
3.2.7 Anti-corruption (Continued) 327 RES (&)
Prevention of Corruption, Extortion and Fraud SFIFE)T « 81 R Al E
The Group has established comprehensive EEEY T REHNEMEEZ R - HIFT
system for internal control and formulated a set T—EEBRINE - B ERAMTEE
of strict policies, which prevent malpractices and HEETAE Y IEE 5 MEMEEET
unethical business practices, and also avoid the BREEAE o
occurrence of corruption and other fraudulent
behaviours.
The Group has strictly complied with the EEBRRETHEEEER - HREHIR
regulations on anti-corruption. No violations of A B AR T o

any provisions were found in the reporting period.

3.2.8 Community Investment 3.28 HERE
The Group has actively participated in the EFUEGRETEEENEE  BF
community including donating funds and TEIRRREYMEDZEEL - LAOE
materials to charitable organizations. e o

‘V




The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st December, 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A business review of the Group, with description of the principal
risks and uncertainties and the likely future development, are
set out in chairman’s statement, management discussion and
analysis on pages 4 to 9, this directors’ report on pages 53 to 65,
and in notes 4, 5, 28, 29, 31 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 72.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2016 to 2020 is set out on page 156.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves of the
Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 74.

As at 31st December 2020, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$783,382,000 (2019:
HK$765,800,000), being the aggregation of share premium and
retained profits.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Chairman
Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Chief Financial Officer

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Wong Chu Leung
Mr. Chau Suk Ming

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric and Mr. Chau Suk Ming shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of around two years up to 31st March,
2021, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received, from the Independent Non-executive
Directors, annual confirmations of their independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The Company considers the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 10 to 12.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share
options during the year:
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BEx(E)

ARBEEEBLIFNTESRE TR B E
H2 FERRE - AARRER - BUIFRTEFHRBEL
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i

ARAEERBREEEREFERRE0E12E
BERE -

B E

ARR)Z BRHER 8 2 FHIBHN R A BT IS RRIRE25 -

TREBARFBERENFAZES

Exercise OQutstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding

price per at beginning during during during at end of
Category Option type Date of grant share  of the year the year the year the year the year
gl BREES RHBAH SRORE FOHKTE ERERL ERTRE R FRHRTE

(Note) HK$
(Pi5E) BT
Directors
gz
Mr. Hui Sum Ping G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
#RTRE
Mr. Hui Sum Tai G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
ARELE
Ms. Hui Yuen Li G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
SHEAIL L
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric G 15.10.2018 0.435 500,000 - - - 500,000
RAERE
Mr. Wong Chu Leung G 15.10.2018 0.435 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
ERRAE
13,452,000 - - - 13,452,000

Other employees G 15.10.2018 0.435 8,168,000 - - - 8,168,000
HitfEg
Total for all categories 21,620,000 - - - 21,620,000

Ex bl

N
A
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Note:

The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by Directors
at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options granted
under the Company's share option scheme may only exercise their options
during the exercisable periods as follows:

Granted under scheme

BT
Wi

BBk GBEPRESNGRREBRERETE - AAF3B
PRt I T BB R R A AME RN A T T ST 1 S 2 FE AR

REFT AR
Option type G Maximum % of share options exercisable
GEBIRE AITEEREZESEILT
1.5.2019-30.4.2020 up to 50%
H= A3E50%
1.5.2020-30.4.2021 up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
Bim A1 E75% (VAR RITEE BR)
1.5.2021-30.4.2026 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

HEE A E100% (A M KRITEE BE)

As at 31st December, 2020, the total number of new shares which
might be issued upon exercise of the options that had been granted
and remained outstanding under the scheme was 21,620,000 new
shares, representing approximately 2.64% of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

L‘ R PR

RIB-ZF+-A=+—H  REFZERLBRKT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company

—_—=

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

(a) Shares

(a) K

NoE—T
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EERERG - HERGORES 2R

FHZA=1T—H  RERAXFREES LB
BIEpI([EHFRBAEED ) EB2E 2 REEF2ELMH
Frrcsr - SiRIB EMETARESTETE SR HNIREST
QB S RNRR R ME - EENANRA LA EE
(& REFRAEEPIEXVER) 2 B fp
FHEA B MORANT

RER L&

Approximate

Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
HEBRTRAE
BExpg AAR/ B EERE E227) BEHARER HMABE D
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 126,940,681 shares 15.52%
HRERE /NG| EnBEA Long position
126,940,681 J&fx 7
e
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 107,755,400 shares 13.17%
HRERE /NS trust/interest of controlled Long position (Note 1)
corporations 107,755,4000% 8% 17
REEEIIA i (PEET)
R E R
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Interest of spouse 19,754,000 shares 2.41%
TRTEE ZN/NE] [l 3y Long position
19,754,0008% A £
e
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 150,556,430 shares 18.41%
HRELE VAN ETHEEA Long position
150,556,430/ f% {7
e
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of spouse 5,110,000 shares 0.62%
HRELE VAN B Long position

5,110,000 %A% {5
[5)

N
A

L’ b‘il’)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(a)

Shares (Continued)

(a) Kf(#E)

ESRKRYD  HERORES 2 #EH(E)

Approximate

Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
EERITRA
ExEpng AAR/HEEEEE =27 BEHARER BMABE D
Ms. Hui Yuen Li Company Beneficial owner 4,064,000 shares 0.49%
A 2+ /NG ETHEEA Long position
4,064,000/ i {7
e
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric Company Beneficial owner 596,000 shares 0.07%
MRELE VAN EnBAA Long position
596,000/ & {7
)
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Beneficial owner 180,000 shares 0.02%
EBR S AAT] E=BEBA Long position
180,000/% %17
e
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Interest of spouse 1,653,007 shares 0.18%
AR S Vi/NC] [IRLE P £ Long position
1,553,007 8% A% 7
HE
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Gong Ming Hop Fung Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
HARFRE Paper Ware Factory trust/interest of controlled deferred shares of
Limited ("Hop Fung corporations/short position HK$1 each
GM") of controlled corporations Long and short
NP LRAFER AR i’fé FEISZA positions (Note 2)
(T&4RrH]) f@g 5/ 3,000,000/ &M E 1
x% EBRKE AT B
B
ﬁ,?rF &/)(E
(PiEE2)
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Short position of a controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
HRRLE AENH corporation deferred shares of

RIEERR

L‘ﬁf1¢ .- .

HK$1 each
Long and short
positions (Note 2)
3,000,000 B EE
BT BRI
LR
HERAE

GEY



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(a)

Notes:

Shares (Continued)

The 107,755,400 shares are owned by Goldspeed Holdings Limited
("Goldspeed”). Goldspeed is wholly owned by Goldkeen Assets
Management Limited (“Goldkeen”) and Goldkeen is wholly owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC") in its capacity as the
trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder
of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the family members of Mr. Hui Sum
Ping. Accordingly, Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in
the 107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire
issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100 divided into
100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of
HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are beneficially owned by Hop Fung
Group (HK) Limited (“Hop Fung Group HK") which is owned as to
50% and 50% by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai is
deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares
of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop Fung Group
HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group Company Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, an option to purchase
from them such 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each
in Hop Fung GM. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai is deemed to have a short position in the underlying shares
of the option granted under the option deed pursuant to the SFO.

L’ b‘tl’)
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(a)

Wi

B0 (4

#% 107,755,400 % B% 19 B Goldspeed Holdings Limited
([ Goldspeed | ) # % ° Goldspeed A Goldkeen Assets
Management Limited ([ Goldkeen | ) 2 B # A& + M
GoldkeenfiHSBC International Trustee Limited([HSBC )
LAHSP 2004 Family Trust2sEAZ S D2 EHAE ° 55t
BIEEDBERF  HEINLABTARTLLE  2EEEER
BETRTAERTRTEEZRKEKE  Hilt - RIFH
FH R HE G - AR SR E AR BB 5%107,755,400A%
Bt 2 heas
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123,000,000 B R EBEIAB T ERERELER - 2
3,000,000 TR EE1B T 6 L RPERERELERS
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$50% ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in
share options of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2020, the following shareholders had
interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company:

ESRKRYD  HERORES 2 #EH(E)

(b) FERRHE
EENWFZBBATR AR AIBRE 2 EEF15
HRAmETBAE -

BREXEEEN R_Z-_ZF+_A=1+—H EFER
BE 2B EATRERN AR R R EALFAEREE 2 T
0 BN HESFT R EAREIOAE

ERRRRKRA - HERG RES 2 S

NZB-BFE+-A=+—H BREFARFTRRES LD
HIEPIEIBHTE 2 BRMARHEISTHEER
TOIBERN AR BB AR D h B TR

Approximate

Number of Number of percentage of
issued share issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held options held Note(s) capital
BECRT Pt HERTRE
RERER, HE 227 R E A BREHE (iE BABE A
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner/founder of a 254,450,081 3,984,000 1,2 31.60%
AREEE discretionary trust/interest of
controlled corporations/interest of
spouse
EE%EA/E%F?EIA/
RimrEER B En
Goldspeed Beneficial owner 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
EnBA
Goldkeen Interest of a controlled corporation 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
XL EER
HSBC Trustee of discretionary trust 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
PRETERTA
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 155,666,430 3,984,000 3 19.52%
TREEE EalBEAN/ BB #R
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 171,227,882 - 4 20.94%
FTARBI E‘%EA/MQZ%m

P PR



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1. Of 258,434,081 total shares, Ms. Jian Jian Yi is directly interested in
19,754,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 238,680,081
shares of the Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of
Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a Director and a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

2. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by
HSBC through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its
capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary
trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary
objects of which include Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the family members
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of Goldspeed, Goldkeen,
HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the
107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

3. Of 159,650,430 total shares, Ms. Leung Pui Man is directly interested
in 5,110,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 154,540,430
shares of the Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr.
Hui Sum Tai, a Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

4. Of 171,227,882 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in
750,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 170,477,882 shares
of the Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum
Kwok, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's listed
securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31st December, 2020.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate. In addition, save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors, and any of their respective associates were
granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company or
had exercised any such right during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates were
interested in any business apart from the Group's business, that
competes or competed or are or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during
the year ended 31st December, 2020 and up to the date of this
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company's business was entered into or existed during
2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 167(1) of the Company's Articles of Association,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred by him or
her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties.

The Company maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance during 2020 and up to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2020, the aggregate amount
of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for around 27% of the Group's revenue. The aggregate
amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 27% of the Group's total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates and shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company's issued shares) have any interests in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any related party
transactions or continuing related party transactions which fall
under the definition of “Connected Transaction” or “Continuing
Connected Transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
shall oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately HK$68,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors strive to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasise the importance of a quality Board, effective
internal controls and accountability to shareholders. The Company
has met the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange throughout the year ended
31st December, 2020, except with the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

o Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

o There are no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The
Directors consider that the responsibilities of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear
and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.

Code Provision B.1.2

o A deviation from the code provision B.1.2 is that the
Remuneration Committee of the Company reviews
and makes recommendations to the Directors on the
remuneration packages of the Directors only but not the
senior management.

o Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.

Code Provision C.3.3

° Code provision C.3.3 stipulates that the audit committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor.

o Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review
the financial information in its interim report, the Audit
Committee has met with the Company's auditor once a year
to discuss matters arising from the audit of the Company’s
annual results and other matters the auditor may wish to
raise. The Audit Committee has met with the Company's
auditor once during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

L‘$:1¢ - .

EEER

BB RKTFREER  UREFBRREBERRER
R - ARR 2 EEERRABHSEEEE - AR
BEZERARREECEEN - BE_2-_ZF+_-8
=T —RUEFESE ARRECHFABRMES LR
fisx 14 D EEIRTRIPTHE 2 SFRMES - AT Z 1R BE
BRoM -

SFRIRCA.2.145%

o TRMEXA2VGMRETFETHRAR 2 BEHER
BRHIE - WABESIH

o  ARFAEEMEINHEFETHRER 2BEHE -
BEERA - TRETRERS B ZBRADARER
E o BHARNRRES 2 BERE -

<F AR CB.1. 215k

o [REETRIEXBI2EARARRFHERSENES
MR RERE 2 M7 TR RAESRE
3R o

. BAl SREEEBZHEMBADRERRHITH
HREPRIE o

<FAIfR3CC.3.31%

o  TREXCIIGMEBRKZEGATFEANAK
BEIRITHROMAGH ©

o HRARRUEZRBEZBENER PRS2 M
BH > BERZESBFRAQRARBMEIT RS
Z o UNARES AR R FREMEECFERZ
BENA R KMt EH - BE-T-TF+ A
=t HLFESRH BEREZESEEARRRE

BRERTT—IR & -



ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving continuous improvement
in environmental performance and complying with the relevant
environmental protection regulations and rules. 100% wastepaper
(old containerboard cardboard) is used by the Group for producing
containerboard in the upstream business.

Environmental protection measures are implemented by the
Group to minimize the impact on the environment. Two of the
manufacturing facilities of the Group have been accredited with the
ISO 14001 certification for its environmental management system.

The environmental, social and governance ("ESG") report of the
Group disclosing detailed discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance are prepared in accordance with Appendix
27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued
by the Stock Exchange. The ESG report is disclosed in this Annual
Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as
at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditor of the
Company since its incorporation.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor

of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
30th March, 2021
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop
Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 155,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31st December, 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31st December, 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment
relating to the containerboard segment

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment relating to the containerboard segment as a key audit
matter due to its financial significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant judgements and
assumptions in estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which property, plant and equipment belong to.

With reference to the financial performance and market condition
noted, the management considered that there may be impairment
indicators of certain property, plant and equipment relating to
the containerboard segment existed as at 31st December, 2020.
Accordingly, the management assessed whether there was any
impairment of the property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment at 31st December, 2020 by preparing a
value-in-use calculation to determine the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the property, plant and equipment
belong to. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash
generating unit and suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment relating
to the containerboard segment for which the management have
performed impairment assessment as at 31st December, 2020
are HK$1,334,357,000, as disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARELBH(E)
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
property, plant and equipment relating to the containerboard
segment included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s process
and basis adopted in preparing the cash flow forecast,
including significant assumptions;

o Challenging the key assumptions adopted by the
management, including growth rates and gross margin, by
referring to the industry information and the management'’s
budget;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the cash flow forecast by
comparing against historical performance and discussing
with the management on revenue growth strategies and cost
initiatives in respect of the cash generating units;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions used
in the impairment assessment, in particular the discount rate;
and

o Evaluating the sensitivity analysis in respect of the growth

rate, gross margin and discount rate to assess the extent of
impact on the calculation of the value-in-use.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter. We
describe this matter in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Del Rosario, Faith Corazon.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30th March, 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEakEtEEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020
BE—F_FFEL_H=+—HIFE

.P“

2020 2019
— ? —= qE :ﬁ_ﬂi
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
BaaE FExT FET
Revenue e 5 1,040,369 1,194,082
Cost of sales SHE KA (912,500) (1,078,828)
Gross profit EF 127,869 115,254
Other income Eug A 6 23,053 20,584
Other gains and losses H itz & B8 4,052 (2,297)
Impairment loss under expected credit TEEEEEIEER THRIE
loss model, net of reversal B9 - HIBREE[E - (551)
Selling and distribution costs SHE K SHRKAR (38,137) (45,689)
Administrative expenses TR (80,104) (83,662)
Other expenses Hnhaz 7 (21,417) (18,168)
Finance costs BT R AN 8 (8,813) (6,189)
Profit (loss) before taxation FATFE (B18) 6,503 (20,718)
Income tax (expense) credit el (A=) Ex 9 (5,140) 12,799
Profit (loss) for the year, attributable to RAEIHE AELEEFE
owners of the Company (E18) 10 1,363 (7,919)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEHMEARE(FX) :
for the year:
[tem that may be reclassified B EER 7 B
subsequently to profit or loss: IHH -
Exchange differences arising from HMEFINETS 2 [EH =5
translation of foreign operations 87,072 (24,774)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AKAEEANELFEER
for the year, attributable to owners s (Fx) @5
of the Company 88,435 (32,693)
HK cents HK cents
Bl A Il
Earnings (loss) per share BRER(EE) 13
— basic —HR 0.17 (0.98)
— diluted —#E 0.17 (0.98)

L\:1¢ .-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ‘

SRE TR R

AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2020
REZFEZFF+—H=+4+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
Bzt FET FET
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E Y S ] 14 1,364,462 1,343,204
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 29,092 28,765
Deposits and prepayments e RIERRK 18 169,843 63,790
1,563,397 1,435,759
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 143,471 93,861
Trade, bills and other receivables 25 ZEREHAEWHEIE 17 200,055 168,833
Deposits and prepayments e RIENR 18 4,471 6,518
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR IR 19 291,561 292,299
639,558 561,511
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other payables 25  EBEREMEMNFE 20 224,854 180,655
Taxation payable FERRIA 2,427 3,133
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 7,970 7,832
Unsecured bank borrowings FIERRITEE 22 138,496 183,263
373,747 374,883
Net current assets REEERE 265,811 186,628
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAERE 1,829,208 1,622,387
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 - 311
Unsecured bank borrowings IR E 22 144,118 33,593
Deferred taxation EIEFLIR 24 64,034 57,200
208,152 91,104
Net assets BEFEE 1,621,056 1,531,283
Capital and reserves BRAR #E
Share capital &N 23 81,764 81,764
Reserves e 1,539,292 1,449,519
Total equity, attributable to owners RATEEAE(hERETE
of the Company 1,621,056 1,531,283

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

30th March, 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

HUI SUM PING FF#H#¥F
DIRECTOR Z%

RN 4

RENREIbAZHGEEUBRREN T _—F=A=1
RREZSHENMREREER YH TIESFAREE

HUI SUM TAI iR

DIRECTOR Z%#

P
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RBB®

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020
BE_F_FTFEL_A=+—HIFE

PRC Share
Share Share Special  statutory Translation options  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
HE BRE N
RE  ROBE HHRE LERE ERRE fE  RENE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
(noge i)
(Fi3Ei)
At 1st January, 2019 “Z-N&—F-H 79,682 481,258 (107,444) - (9,212) 2392 1,103,546 1,550,222
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - - - (7,919) (7,919)
Exchange differences arising ~ HRE I EB 2
from translation of foreign ERER
operations - - - - (24,774) - - (24,774)
Total comprehensive FEZERYEER
expense for the year - - - - (24,774) - (7,919) (32,693)
Recognition of equity-settled  FERRUARRERE Z 1A
share-based payments R T2 - - - - - 4,697 - 4,697
Exercise of share options TR 2,082 6,975 - - - S - 9,057
Transfer upon exercise of RITHEERRR e M
share options - 4,159 - - - (4,159) - -
At 31st December, 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=t— 81,764 492,392 (107,444) = (33,986) 2,930 1,095,627 1,531,283
Profit for the year EEFHE - - - - - - 1,363 1,363
Exchange differences arising ~ HE B EB
from translation of foreign ERER
operations - - - - 87,072 - - 87,072
Total comprehensive income ~ FEZEHZEE
for the year - - - - 87,072 - 1,363 88,435
Recognition of equity-settled TRIA B 5 E A
share-based payments B A2 i - - - = = 1,338 = 1,338
Transfers B2 - - - 550 - - (550) -
At 31st December, 2020 RZZ_T
—A=1—H 81,764 492,392 (107,444) 550 53,086 4268 1,096,440 1,621,056
Notes: F3E

(ii)

a4

Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of
investments in subsidiaries of the Company and the aggregate
amount of the non-voting deferred share capital of the subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
as a result of the group reorganisation in 2003.

According to the relevant laws in the People's Republic of China
("PRC"), subsidiaries which were established in the PRC are required
to transfer at least 10% of their net profit after taxation to a non-
distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before the distribution of dividends to owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years' losses, if
any, and is non- dlstrlbutable other than upon liquidation.

P

(ii)

Rl R IE AR BN B A R 2 R AR A BT A R &R
FREERAREINA ST =FEESHAMPEZME
AR ZBAEEZ Z5 -

RiEPEARKIMBE ([ E ) HBERER - BRI
MBARIZAREI10% O RBRAMBANA 2 IKFFEE
®  BEERBESRETNEARREMEARNS0% HLE - B
AZRBESUAERARAE DR SAETT - ZREES
AR FEENERE) fﬁ?/i”ﬁﬁl\' NMED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020

Operating activities
Profit (loss) before taxation
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest income
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Share-based payment expense

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
(Increase) decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in trade, bills and other
receivables
Decrease in deposits and prepayments
Increase (decrease) in trade, bills and
other payables

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment and other assets
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

RS
BRI (B518)
ISYEHIA T
BTSN
B 5 RS RR BRI
W - BERRETE
ERBEEERE
A EIWA
HEWE -« BB &R KRR
VAR AR 2 A5 2 32

NBECEBRLERSNE

rN

FE ()R

B5  REREAMEWRR
(HE 03

we AN

85  REREMENTR
ZmORD)

BEEAZRS
BRSPS

RETHEL2REFHE

REFS

Wi - R &
REMABEED MRS

WM - BFE Rk
BEHAE

HEME - BB RREMSHA

REFDEAZH S FH

L’ b‘tl’

BE-— T Tt A=+ AUFE
2020 2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT BT
6,503 (20,718)
8,813 6,189
- 551
83,127 86,379
8,618 8,607
(2,084) (2,226)
(4) (108)
1,338 4,697
106,311 83,271
(41,814) 164,713
(20,782) 5,289
2,419 2,674
62,002 (48,313)
108,136 207,634
(2,511) (1,784)
105,625 205,850
(97,022) (63,790)
(36,666) (60,456)
2,084 2,226
45 158
(131,559) (121,862)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020

BE -—FE-FTFEf - A=+—HIIFE

Financing activities

Repayment of bank loans

Interest on bank borrowings paid
Repayment of lease liabilities

Interest on lease liabilities paid

New bank loans raised

Repayment of other bank borrowings
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December
represented by bank balances and cash

BERE
BERITER
ENRITEEFRS
EEHERE
ENEERENE
FIGIRITER
EREMRITER
BITEBRATSFOR

BMETHEE(ER) 2REFE

RERBSSEEMER
R—A—RRERBEEEE

EREH %

Rt=A=t—BRERREEHE

RITHEBRERS

0?

2020 2019
—ECoEE —E—NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
(216,857) (100,192)
(8,507) (6,059)
(7,926) (7,931)
(306) (130)
274,539 141,401
- (45,000)
- 9,057
40,943 (8,854)
15,009 75,134
292,299 219,398
(15,747) (2,233)
291,561 292,299
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address
of the registered office of the Company is disclosed under
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 34.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied “the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards” and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

Except as described below, the application of the
“Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards” and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

L’ bktl’)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020

=
2.

—FE_FFEL_H=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that states
"information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in
combination with other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments’

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Amendment to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

da-:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020
BE—FE_FFEf - H=1—HILFEZ

R B BB RELE( FEME
HER (&)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st June,
2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2021

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2020

2.

BE -—FE-FTFEf - A=+—HIIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”
(Continued)

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31st
December, 2020, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

L‘\fit".
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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3.

BE -—FE-FTFEf - A=+—HIIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service,
being at the point the goods are delivered to the customer.
Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the
customer’s specific location.

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in
time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15"),
revenue from manufacturing and sales of containerboard and
corrugated packaging products to the Group's customers are
recognised when the goods are passed to the customers,
which is the point of time when the customer has the ability
to direct the use of the goods and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the goods.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

L\:1¢ .- .

@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%gﬁﬁiggﬁﬁ%

=

TEEHBER(E)
REEFEXNH K2 (&)

B WERNEPEFTRE M RGN
MEHER  NERXTEPZHEE -REMREN
EBERPETHE - ABE R -

AREH 2 Wt R — R EEER - RIBEFEM R
SERE 1R REFFP AR ([ EEHBR
SEAF165E ) TR RER X - RERER
AASEREFPHEMREREBEE 2 BENE R
BTEFPHER NEXFPAENERERNER
W HESZE M BAE D RN R (B FIF -

HE
THEYE 2

il & #) AR XA (B T 45 T 7 — BB F] P42 6l B gt
BEFRIEN  RIZAHNAHESBEEHEE -

RRERERBHAR 2RI LHETHRA XSS
H2ROmME - NEBERFSE B - 5] B Sl
BRMER) REEPHRELENFE16RETZ
EEMERNSEAHEXRBEEE - BRIFRNZ
R ERED - BRIBBEOB T TEHT
ity o



ANNUAL REPORT 2020 £g%% 85

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease

term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments only after the
commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes, other than construction in progress as described
below, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land that is presented as "“right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, other than construction in progress, less their residue
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

BE -—FE-FTFEf - A=+—HIIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to individual cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
assets belong, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BE -—FE-FTFEf - A=+—HIIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customer which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liabilities, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an equity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade, bills and other payables
and unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
"Income Taxes" requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be used by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statement